1957

Polly J. Lund v. Orin L. Lund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case on appeal from a decision of Judge Maurice Harding sitting specially on a subsequent, restricted portion of a divorce proceeding, in the District Court for Salt Lake County. The appeal involves only issues after the entry of an interlocutory decree in favor of plaintiff, the subsequent matters pertaining to an attempted reconciliation during the pendency of disposition of motions for a new trial and to amend the earlier findings. The parties attempted a reconciliation, but the misconduct found by the earlier trial court was resumed making the attempted reconciliation a failure. Judge Harding, against the uncontested and undisputed

evidence of resumption of the misconduct, found plaintiff-appellant, by resumption of the marital relation, condoned the offenses found in the original decree, and entered a decree estopping appellant from asserting accrued rights, and nulifying the decree of divorce.

The original divorce decree in favor of plaintiff-appellant is not before this court on appeal as neither party has raised any questions concerning same. The court trying that original case entered Findings, Conclusions, and a Decree all of which reflected that respondent had been cruel to appellant, and required that he pay \$175 per month alimony and support money among other things. This he failed to do. He filed motions to modify Findings, and for a new trial, but prior to action on said motions, the parties attempted a reconciliation. This failed. Defendant-respondent resumed the misconduct, and grossly compounded his faults. Judge Larson, who had tried the original case, saved any question of condonation in ultimately over-ruling the motions for new trial and amendment of findings. It was the question of condonation, and the right of appellant to receive accrued alimony and support money, that was the subject of the hearing by Judge Harding on April 3, 1957 which resulted in that judge finding condonation and depriving appellant of her divorce and the money judgment. This appeal is addressed to the error of Judge Harding in so ruling.

The principle aspect of this appeal, in relation to that ruling, is the fact concerning the resumption of respondent's misconduct, the conditions attached by

appellant to the attempted reconciliation, and the breaking by the respondent of those conditions. The law on the case has been clearly stated by this court in two recent cases of *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, 120 U. 573, 236 P. 2d 1066, and *Beezley v. Beezley*, 296 P. 2d 274.

It is appellant's contention that the court erred as follows:

1. It failed to make Findings in accordance with the uncontested evidence that there was a resumption of the misconduct.

2. It failed to make findings that there were conditions attached to the reconciliation, on which the evidence was uncontested.

3. It made a fundamental finding that the reconciliation was without express condition (Tr. 143) which was contrary to the evidence.

4. It failed to apply the law as stated by this court in the *MacDonald* and *Beezley* cases.

5. It deprived appellant of due process of law in taking away from her vested rights to receive money and property before decreed to her.

In a supplemental appeal, appellant is perfecting her claim to receive:

1. Temporary alimony and support money pending the appeal.

2. Temporary attorney fees and costs, among other things, and for contempt against defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a summary of the facts and procedures.

1. An interlocutory decree of divorce was signed by Judge Martin Larson on February 10, 1954, (Tr. 12-24) after he had entered a memorandum decision at page 10 of Transcript. He found that plaintiff-appellant had been and was very ill; that defendant-respondent had quarreled, had nagged at her without just cause; that he possessed certain sexual paraphernalia suggesting possible infidelity that caused appellant great emotional distress; that he absented himself often at night with no explanation; that he did not love her; that his attitude toward the marriage was not sound and wholesome, that it was dictatorial; that he lacked courtesy and grace during her serious illness and gave no cooperation; that much of the family fortune had come from appellant's hard work, which, because of her illness she could not resume; that she had been a good wife; that in his military travels respondent did not want appellant to accompany him. In his memorandum decision Judge Larson stated "If this attitude and manner at home was 50% of that displayed in court, we may doubt any woman could live long with him and maintain her sanity." (Tr. 10, 13)

2. The court awarded plaintiff \$175 per month alimony and support money "such payments to be made regardless of any motions for new trial or appellate procedures that might be instituted by defendant," (Tr.

22) and in addition ordered him to pay certain bills, and keep certain insurance policies in force. (Tr. 23) Plaintiff was awarded the mink after finding that defendant had made an absolute gift of them to her in consideration of her staying at home during his travels. (Tr. 14) She also was awarded the equity in the house, however monthly payments of \$87.50 were and are required to keep the equity alive. (Tr. 22, 1)

3. Soon after the Findings and Decree were signed, respondent filed motions for amendment of Findings, or a New Trial (Tr. 25) which were not disposed of until after the attempted reconciliation had failed. "I will state that both sides, so far as counsel are concerned, together with the trial court that has handled this matter, have worked sincerely to effect a reconciliation of these parties." (Tr. 82) It was for this reason that there was long delay in the court entering its decree overruling respondent's motion for new trial, dated January 15, 1957. (Tr. 45)

4. During the interlocutory period, and in early May 1954 the parties commenced discussion of reconciliation. It was principally on account of their minor son James, about age 8 at the time, that the parties got back together. (Tr. 53, 1)

5. The issue of how they got back together and its consequences were saved by Judge Larson for any subsequent trial either party desired. (Tr. 45) Respondent-defendant insisted in a pleading at page 41 of the

transcript that the reconciliation amounted to a condonation. Appellant traversed such a claim in a pleading at page 43 of the transcript, stating that respondent had not acted in good faith in the attempted reconciliation, and had among other things, resumed the misconduct before found by Judge Larson. It was this issue that was tried by Judge Harding, and the circumstances of the reconciliation were heard. The record before this court is principally on that subject.

Prior to the commencement of the hearing the court and counsel discussed procedure and the law at which time the court stated in effect that if the parties had lived together for more than a year, the law would require him to find plaintiff had condoned defendant's misconduct, but upon insistence of plaintiff's counsel, the hearing was had. Reference is made to the said conference at page 11 of plaintiff's brief to the court, (Tr.) It is hence most important to a disposition of this appeal that the facts developed at the trial concerning the reconciliation and life together should be understood.

6. That the attempted reconciliation in May 1954 was not eagerly sought by either party is apparent; it was done out of regard for the child. (Tr. 52) The difficulties before encountered, and found by Judge Larson, were thoroughly discussed for a long time. The good offices of Stake President Harline, were utilized by both parties. (Tr. 55, 108) The charges and countercharges, about which the original proceeding was had, were discussed. These involved the evidences of infidelity upon

which Findings were made, among other things. (Tr. 79, 109, 13). Those paraphernalia (condrums and leud handkerchiefs) which had been upsetting to plaintiff were discussed with the stake president, defendant pleading his innocence, plaintiff reporting that, he claimed, "I had misjudged him and that he wasn't guilty; he was a clean man." (Tr. 79) Plaintiff felt her husband had not been honest with her over the past years. It was this subject of honesty that played a major part in the reconciliation, and was a condition to resumption of marital relations. (Tr. 56)

Defendant's counsel on direct examination of Mrs. Lund asked:

"Q. Were there any promises made by either of you about anything that concerned the divorce?

A. Yes—that the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth would be told by both of us, completely. In fact I specified that to Orin, because that has been one of my complaints with Orin, is that he has not told me the truth, and I specified that I wanted the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth about everything, what he did and why he was doing it." (Tr. 56)

There were a multitude of things discussed which we will only summarize, but the testimony of both parties is clear and uncontradicted that Orin, was to improve his conduct. They were to "get their house in order," go through the temple, have Jimmie sealed to them. Defendant himself testified: "... We went to Harline's

home . . . discussed all our differences over money, these condiums and the handkerchiefs . . ." (Tr. 108) . . . "we went back together. Everything was to be above board and out in the open;" things would be confidential between them, and everything he had was to be her's, and everything she had was to be his. (Tr. 113)

7. As a result of these discussions, they resumed their marital relationship and lived a relatively happy life for about a year. (Tr. 55) She mistakenly believed during this period that he was doing as he promised, and that all the money from their efforts was going into a joint bank account. However, he had a separate account which he did not disclose to her, (Tr. 97) this during the time when all was supposed to be going well. The court struck Mrs. Lund's statement that the concealment of the funds used in Florida violated the agreement of reconciliation. His bank statements on this concealed account were sent to another address; (Tr. 115) and his mother, not his wife, had the sole power to the funds in case of Orin's death. (Tr. 119) Exhibit 38 is his own check book showing the dates after reconciliation when he made deposits and withdrawals, and it can be seen that he was keeping funds from the joint account, unto himself, contrary to the reconciliation agreement. He also practiced deceit in relations with plaintiff's mother regarding the moving of the mink, which upset plaintiff, during a time when Judge Harding assumed all was going well. (Tr. 101)

8. Then on Mother's day, 1955 the real break in the attempted reconciliation commenced; defendant had re-

fused to go to church with his child and wife; he returned from being on the property the court had awarded to him, was "antagonistic and vicious towards me and said he was going to leave me and when he left me he was going to leave me absolutely penniless, cut my allowance out until I would never know I had a penny." (Tr. 59) It is here that the real resumption of the old misconduct comes into the open, and it was climaxed four months later with brutality. We will scan only the high lights of his resumption:

a. **INDIFFERENCE IN HER SICKNESS:** Plaintiff was hospitalized for surgery. Defendant stayed away. (Tr. 60)

b. **EYE TROUBLE:** She lost the sight of one eye. It antagonized him. He reacted as the court had found before. (Tr. 61, 14)

c. **DRUNKENESS:** He returned from a trip to Albuquerque in a drunken condition, completely exhausted, having taken liquor along over her protest, (Tr. 62) this at a time when he was needed in the mink operation. He came home often in drunken condition. (Tr. 64)

d. **INDIFFERENT TO HER:** It was none of her business where he had been, what he was doing. (Tr. 64, 65, 66, 67)

e. **SMELLED OF PERFUME:** Several Sundays he would come home late smelling of perfume he did not use. (Tr. 64)

f. ILLEGITIMATE SEX: “. . . he said to me rather snottily that I didn’t need to think I had anything too wonderful, that he knew if he couldn’t get it at home legitimately, that he could get it illegitimately.” (Tr. 66)

g. ARGUMENTATIVE: “He was argumentative and he picked on everything, he was critical; nothing pleased him and he just came and went as he pleased. Said nothing to me, discussed nothing with me, was most argumentative, mean, hateful.” (Tr. 67)

h. MYSTERIOUS PHONE CALLS came from men and women, late hours, his callers would disguise their voices. (Tr. 67)

i. GUARD ENCAMPMENT: He attended, taking street clothes, not needed, remaining away three weeks when two weeks only were required, this at a time when his help was needed in the mine, and she was too ill to do the work. (Tr. 68)

j. RIFLE TEAM: He returned from the extended stay at Guard Encampment, changed clothes and represented he *had* to leave again to take a sick man for the National Guard to the middle west, and did not stay even a night with his sick wife and child. His wife learned he had lied to her and had taken the Guard rifle team on a junket. When he returned he was in a drunken condition. (Tr. 68, 69, 110)

k. PLAINTIFF’S ATTITUDE: “I wanted to be your wife more than anything in this world, and I would

be the happiest girl in the world, but I can't be under this cloud of deceit." He didn't say anything. (Tr. 66)

l. CONCEALED BANK ACCOUNT: It was upon his return from the Guard trip drunk, that the concealed check-book fell from his pants, showing that for months before he had deposited money and checked on it without her knowledge. This she discovered in late August or early September 1955, (Tr. 70) and related to money concealed in January of the same year.

m. PROPHYLACTIC KIT: Among his things at the home she found exhibit 39 which counsel for Mr. Lund stipulated "are for prevention of venereal disease after intercourse if used as directed." (Tr. 76)

n. PORNOGRAPHIC HANDKERCHIEFS: Exhibit 40 constitutes four such; plaintiff did not want her husband filling his mind with such things, nor have them about the house. ((Tr. 78) As counsel examined the exhibit and "definitely" stated there was no objection, Mrs. Lund, observing their examination of them in court, said: "It makes no difference to him that I find those things; he thinks it is just a lot of hooey; there is nothing sacred about our marriage, so he makes light of it." (Tr. 78) It was talk about such things that Orin and Polly had with President Harline 16 months before when Orin said she had misjudged him, that "he wasn't guilty, he was a clean man." (Tr. 79)

o. LIE ABOUT CONDRUMS: Exhibit 42, the cigaret lighter, is relevant in that in the former trial condrams had been found in the box; Orin had said in

the reconciliation talk with President Harline the lighter itself had been stolen, and that someone had pushed the condrums, in evidence in the former trial, into the "cover around the cigarette lighter and that he was innocent." Now, in late August 1955 Mrs. Lund finds the lighter, and the former lie became evident. (Tr. 80) It is the deceit that is important, not the lighter!

p. BRUTALITY: The day after Labor Day, 1955 he came to her office near the mink operation and demanded: "I want *my* bank statements." He was admonished "I am checking them over and am not through with them; they are not *your* bank statements, they are *our* bank statements." He thereupon struck appellant three times with his fist, and kicked her down the basement steps with his foot. He blackened the eye of Mrs. Lund's mother, and then ran, son James seeing. He got his clothes and left the house, and has not returned. (Tr. 81 to 86) Plaintiff had to see a doctor and was treated, expense involved.

9. ALIMONY DUE: Plaintiff-appellant proved at the time of the said trial delinquent payments ordered to be paid her by respondent were unpaid in the sum of \$3,597.93. (Exhibit 46, Tr. 124) This gives him credit for \$950.00 paid, and the balance is alimony and support money, excepting the full period when they lived together, plus the specific bills Judge Larson ordered him to pay of \$697.93 which he did not pay. As of April 1, 1957, the sum of \$3,597.93 was in arrears. Judge Harding ignored this entire subject.

10. **ATTORNEY FEES:** Appellant requested the court to require respondent to pay her attorney fees. (Tr. 126) She stated it had been a long and arduous litigation, and she had no funds. At this time defendant had filed an appeal of Judge Larson's overruling his motion for a new trial. Defendant seems to have now abandoned that appeal. Plaintiff's counsel was sworn and made a statement of the entire long matters, and the difficult trial for which the original court ordered defendant to pay \$200 as attorney fees. That is unpaid to this day. He further outlined his work, showing sincere attempts to see the reconciliation work, but upon its failing, more work was involved. He requested, in addition to the \$200 before awarded, the additional sum of \$750 as attorneys fees, (Tr. 132) but this was not given because the court found condonation had estopped both parties, and the divorce was annulled.

At the end of the Harding trial, because the court had stated it did not regard plaintiff as having any rights because of living for more than one year with defendant, plaintiff filed an extensive brief exceeding forty pages. As will be seen from the supplemental appeal, there have been additional matters for which attorney fees are asked.

11. **JUDGE HARDINGS DECISION:** On May 13, 1957 this judge served a memorandum decision holding that "plaintiff condoned the misconduct of defendant" by the reconciliation, finding:

a. "This reconciliation was without express condition, and the court finds it was not conditional," and

b. "Any misconduct of the defendant from which arose the original grounds for divorce was condoned and forgiven by plaintiff." (Tr. 141-143)

It is from the decree and findings that plaintiff now appeals.

12. TEMPORARY ALIMONY, S U P P O R T MONEY, ATTORNEY FEES: Pursuant to the Harding decision, plaintiff sought temporary relief; hearing has been had, and from the decision of Judge Aldon Anderson, a supplementary appeal is being perfected to accompany this major appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED ON

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE FINDINGS ON THE UNCONTESTED ISSUE OF RESUMPTION OF THE MISCONDUCT.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPELLANT CONDONED THE WRONGS OF RESPONDENT. THE COURT IGNORED THE LAW OF UTAH.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE RECONCILIATION WAS NOT ON CONDITION. THERE WERE CONDITIONS AND THEY WERE BROKEN.

POINT IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENTER JUDGMENT FOR ALIMONY AND SUPPORT MONEY, AND FOR CONTEMPT.

POINT V.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ASSESS AND AWARD ATTORNEY FEES FOR APPELLANT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE FINDINGS ON THE UNCONTESTED ISSUE OF RESUMPTION OF THE MISCONDUCT.

No where in the disposition of the case did Judge Harding make any reference to resumption of the misconduct before found by Judge Larson. The issue was resolved on the simple proposition that if the parties reconciled and lived together for a year, that ended it, that plaintiff had condoned the offenses and forgave them. The trial court ignored the law as clearly announced by this court in

MAC DONALD v. MAC DONALD, 120 U 573,
236 P2 1066

BEEZLEY v. BEEZLEY, 296 P2 274

It is elementary that the court must make findings on essential issues raised in the pleadings and at the trial.

Plaintiff raised the issue by the pleading on page 43 of transcript, where she alleged, and proved at the trial, that “. . . he resumed the misconduct of which he was charged and proven to be guilty in the principal trial.” This was in response to defendant’s pleading on page 41 of transcript that plaintiff had condoned. But in this pleading defendant admitted in his paragraph 3 “. . . the parties had further difficulties.” At no time in the trial of this issue, on which defendant had the burden of proof, (Tr. 52) did defendant dispute or argue that he

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