1957

Polly J. Lund v. Orin L. Lund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

As to the law

There is a difference between (a) condonation that occurs after the filing of the complaint and before the decree, and (b) reconciliation after the interlocutory decree is entered. In situation (a) the court has all the facts before it at the time of entering a decree, both as to grounds of divorce and equities in property settlement. In a condonation after the interlocutory decree is entered, as in this case, there is no provision to determine the change of equities at the time of any subsequent breakdown of the marriage.

The plaintiff depends on the case of *MacDonald vs. MacDonald*, 120 U. 573, 236 P(2) 1066. In that case a divorce was brought in 1948. That complaint was dismissed and the parties reconciled. Then the defendant resumed her misconduct and another suit for divorce was filed. The fact that the 1948 complaint was dismissed and the parties reconciled did not condone her

prior conduct so as to wipe it out from consideration at the time of the trial of the second complaint.

The case of *Beezley vs. Beezley*, 5 U(2) 20, 296 P(2) 274, is a case where a divorce was filed on May 8, 1952. The case was never brought to trial, and on July 17, 1953, defendant pleaded that the cruelty complained of in plaintiff's complaint had been condoned. On the 19th of February, 1954, a supplemental complaint was filed alleging that the reconciliation on the part of the defendant was fraudulent and he had resumed his cruel treatment. The court held in this case the same as in the *MacDonald case, supra*. As in the MacDonald case, this was a condonation prior to trial and interlocutory decree.

Counsel for plaintiff did not see fit to quote *Johnson vs. Johnson*, 116 U. 27, 207 P(2) 1036, wherein the court discusses a reconciliation and condonation after the interlocutory decree but before the decree became final, and the court says:

"Nevertheless, if a divorce decree can be set aside on the petition of both parties after the interlocutory period has expired under statutes such as are found in Colorado and Utah, then there seems to be no logical reason why the decree could not be set aside upon application of one of the parties, if actual resumption of marital relations could be shown. The matter would resolve itself into one of proof." (P. 1038)

And again on Page 1039:

“Similarly when the parties to a divorce proceeding have resumed marital relations during the interlocutory period, and have notified the court to this effect, during the interlocutory period, it is the policy of the law and the view favored by public policy, that the court vacate the decree, so that it will appear of record that no divorce in fact was ever granted.”

The case goes on to say that if the interlocutory period is extended, that indicates the marriage is still in existence, and if a showing is made before the decree has become final that the parties have resumed marital relations, there will appear no divorce of record, and all uncertainties would be resolved in favor of the existence of the marriage.

The plaintiff quotes from *Angell vs. Angell* (Dist. Court of Appeals, 1st Dist., Calif., Mar. 15, 1948), 191 P(2) 54. In that case the interlocutory decree was granted on account of drunkenness. There was a written reconciliation entered into, signed and acknowledged, an express agreement that defendant would refrain from drinking for one year. This he did not do. His conduct became as bad or worse. This court reversed the trial court and held there was a resumption of the cruel treatment, and entered the final decree. The court however says on page 57 the California cases have established the law to be as follows:

“If a reconciliation based on an unconditional forgiveness is effected before the entry of a final decree the trial court should deny such a decree to either party.”

The above case was decided by a divided court. Justice Ward claimed the contract in the above case was void and made the following observation:

“Such a contract would permit parties to enjoy marital relations for over eleven months and then upon the whim or caprice of one spouse obtain a final decree irrespective of the declaration of law or the views of the courts on the merits of the motion.”

Lane vs. Superior Court (Dist. Ct. App., Calif., March 5, 1930), 285 P(2) 860, quoted by the plaintiff, holds where wife has been granted an interlocutory decree of divorce on account of fault of her husband and reconciliation has been effected and cohabitation resumed for considerable length of time, court may exercise discretion in granting or refusing final decree of divorce, and in this case the final decree was denied.

Plaintiff has cited 17 Am. Jur. 258, section 213, which deals with condonation, either pending the divorce action or during the divorce action. Section 441, at page 365, discusses the effect of cohabiting before the final decree, and says that condonation or reconciliation and resumption of marital relations after the entry of an interlocutory decree will prevent the entry of a final decree of divorce sought by either party.

Burchfield vs. Burchfield (Sup. Ct., Wash.), 105 P(2) 286, says, at page 288:

“A clear and concise statement of the meaning of the phrase ‘resumed the marital relation,’ as it should be applied in the case at bar, is set forth in the quotation from the memorandum decision of the learned trial court: ‘From all the acts, conduct and practices of the parties the court is to determine whether there was a real intent, carried into execution, to resume the relations of husband and wife. If that can be found, then the final decree should be denied, since the parties should not be at liberty to change their minds a second time, and proceed on the basis of the action when it has once been abandoned by an actual resumption of the marital relations’”.

Smith vs. Smith (Sup. Ct., Wash.), 269 P. 821, holds that if, after the entry of the interlocutory order, the parties resumed the marital relationship and lived together openly and travelled together, and held themselves out to the world as husband and wife, they have estopped themselves from availing themselves of the interlocutory order for the purpose of using it as a basis for a final decree of divorce. To hold that they can resume the marital relation, as did the parties to this action, and then proceed to a final decree, would make a farce of judicial procedure and open the door to fraud; it would result in intolerable situations, and involve innocent children, creditors in good faith, to say nothing of the parties themselves, and create an inextricable confusion, that could result in nothing but harm to all concerned. Quoting from that case, at page 824:

“If, after the entry of such an order, the parties deliberately resume the marital status, and

live together openly as husband and wife, whether or not they wish or intend to do away with the effect of the interlocutory order, the law must assume that they intended the reasonable consequences of their act, and, in our opinion, the only conclusion which can follow is that the action for divorce has been abandoned and the interlocutory order, as the basis for a final decree, wholly done away with."

The question of whether or not there was a reconciliation, the question of whether it was conditional, and the question of whether the cruelty has been resumed to such an extent as to justify the entry of a decree are for the trial court to decide. As has been repeatedly said by this court, a trial court has a better opportunity to view the witnesses and observe them on the stand, and the decision of the trial court should not be disturbed unless the evidence definitely shows that there was an abuse of discretion.

Griffiths vs. Griffiths, 3 U(2) 82, 278 P(2) 983.

POINT 1.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO MAKE FINDINGS ON THE ISSUE OF RESUMPTION OF MISCONDUCT.

Judge Harding could not have made a finding of the resumption of misconduct. There was no misconduct. The plaintiff and defendant went back together again in May of 1954. They lived together in their home on Millcreek Way. They had a joint bank account. They worked on the mink farm together, and the defendant used his

salary from the National Guard and from the railroad for the upkeep of the family. In addition to the National Guard and the railroad, he worked on the mink farm. He arranged his work on the railroad so that he had the shift from 3:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m., to enable him to work on the mink farm. For over a year they lived together happily and harmoniously; in fact, the trial court asked her specifically whether there was anything to suggest to her that their marriage was not happy and harmonious between Mother's Day of 1954 and 1955. Her only objection was that he worked on Sunday on the east "40" and that she wanted a deed to the east "40". The court pressed his question and asked her: "Until that day, there had been nothing wrong from the time you went back together?" She said there had been a few things, but she accepted them, like flying and going to the Guard, but she answered the court that he was considerate of her during that period of time. (R. 99-100) Both of them held out to the world that they were husband and wife, and so continued until after Labor Day of 1955.

Plaintiff and her counsel lay great stress on the defendant having a bank account containing less than \$100.00, yet fail to mention the \$5,000.00 that plaintiff loaned to her brother prior to commencing the divorce action. This plaintiff proclaims she hates lies yet fraudulently kept this information from the trial court in the divorce action, and thus gained an unconscionable advantage in the property settlement. No mention was made in plaintiff's brief concerning plaintiff depositing

\$698.50 in the account of P. J. Lund immediately after the reconciliation.

From the testimony it is clear that this idea of building up cruelty came to her mind some time in the summer of 1955, when she finally decided she wanted no more of the defendant. No matter what the defendant did, no matter what he owned, to her mind was debasing. In every act of the defendant and in his every possession, she saw the possibility of infidelity, impiety and brutality, which brings to mind:

“All seems infected that the infected spy,
As all looks yellow to the jaundiced eye.”
“A. Pope — Essay on Criticism.”

If there was any cruelty, it was on the side of this carping, querulous, inquisitive and acquisitive plaintiff. The lower court was right. At the importuning of the plaintiff the parties effected a reconciliation. They lived together for over a year as man and wife. No thought was given to the divorce action. Plaintiff abandoned seeking a final decree. Defendant's motion for new trial was undisturbed. Just how long do people have to stay together in this State in order to effect what is termed a reconciliation prior to final decree? The lower court properly held that in this case there had been a full reconciliation for over a year, and the interlocutory decree should be set aside. Judge Harding properly held that he was not interested in the assault just after Labor Day of 1955.

POINT 2.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING A RECONCILIATION.

The facts of this case clearly indicate the parties went back together to make a home, raise their son, and conduct the mink business. The plaintiff solicited this reconciliation. Up until that time the defendant was proceeding in his case by a motion for new trial to correct the inequities and injustices in the lower court's decree.

The only condition to the reconciliation was the defendant's demand that the plaintiff clear his name by admitting the lies she told in the divorce action and to straighten out the matter of concealed moneys. However, there was a condonation by both parties, and, as said before, they went back together and lived harmoniously for one year, when for some reason or other she began to dream up acts of cruelty. We do not admit the plaintiff claims that she condoned the wrongs of the defendant. We do not concede that the defendant had committed wrongs requiring condonation. All there is to it, these people started a divorce and then decided to go back together again, and they did go back together again and they lived together for over a year. A change in conditions arose because of the reconciliation. According to all the cases cited by the plaintiff and the defendant, the reconciliation, coupled with the resumption of cohabitation for a long period of time, amount to reconciliation or condonation sufficiently to justify the setting aside of the interlocutory decree. If either party had any com-

plaint against the other, they condoned it. Condonation does not mean that you go through a certain ritual or sign a pledge. What was their conduct after going back together if it was not condonation or reconciliation? The court was right.

The Griffiths case, *supra*, also holds that provocation is a material fact for consideration in determining whether conduct of defendant spouse constitutes cruelty.

In the case at bar, neither party denies that there was a reconciliation. Plaintiff claims defendant was cruel to her; defendant denies this. Judge Harding, after hearing the evidence, determined that there was a condonation and reconciliation.

POINT 3.

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THE RECONCILIATION WAS NOT CONDITIONAL.

In arguing this point the plaintiff has endeavored to show there were conditions. In the testimony quoted on page 28 of plaintiff's brief, she mentioned her desire along religious lines and about both of them telling the truth. There is not one scintilla of evidence in the record that there was an express condition, save and except the defendant saying that he wanted her to clear his name and confess to her lies. If there were any conditions broken as to the truth, it is all on the part of the plaintiff. She did not clear up the \$5,000.00 loan to her brother, which would have materially changed the original inter-

locutory decree of the trial court. As to the bank accounts, she complained about his small one started prior to the reconciliation, but she does not think anything about her own account with several hundred dollars in it started immediately after the reconciliation made in the name of P. J. Lund. (Exhibit 44).

All through plaintiff's brief, she has attempted to find something on which to base cruelty, or as she terms it, resumption of cruelty, on the part of the defendant. In every respect this attempt has failed. It is almost like a person skinning a flea to get its tallow.

Plaintiff's counsel has brought up complaints that ordinarily would be laughed out of court. He has attempted by the use of adjectives and adverbs to paint every act into one of extreme cruelty. For example, at page 36 of plaintiff's brief, he would have the court believe that defendant beat his child. This is just one of the many misstatements and exaggerations of plaintiff's counsel.

In reading plaintiff's brief, one would suppose that the plaintiff was acting as a parol board imposing strict conditions; however, no parol board would ever go so far as to require conditions that came to plaintiff's mind not during the reconciliation but in the summer of 1955. A parol board would give a parolee a hearing. This plaintiff did not do. She obtained a locksmith and searched his chests that had been stored in the basement unopened since prior to the divorce action (R. 109-110). She

begrudged him having anything of his own. She wanted him to go to his folks and get a deed to the east "40". To call this unreasonable would be the understatement of the year. The condition that she wanted to place this defendant in is epitomized by the immortal Burns:

"Curs'd be the man, the poorest wretch in life,
The crouching vassal to the tyrant wife!
Who has no will but by her high permission;
Who has not sixpence but in her possession;
Who must to her his dear friend's secret tell;
Who dreads a curtain lecture worse than hell!"

* * * * *

POINT 4.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT ALIMONY AND SUPPORT MONEY, AND TO HOLD DEFENDANT IN CONTEMPT.

This point is interesting. Here finally the real reason for this protracted litigation comes to light. The plaintiff not only wanted her provisions in the original unconscionable decree of divorce to revive but the plaintiff also wanted to wreck this man by getting a judgment of some \$3,600.00. In desperation plaintiff in her brief quoted *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, *supra*, where the court said the marriage was a wreck and the court should pronounce a benediction on it. That was all right in the MacDonald case, which is entirely different from this one as is shown in the first part of our argument. There

there were no new property rights to consider. In this case, there is the \$5,000.00 that she loaned her brother and failed to divulge at the original hearing. There is the \$3,600.00 for which they are trying to get a judgment against this defendant. There is also the enhanced value of the mink and real property from joint funds and efforts for sixteen months.

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